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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

SERGIO L. RAMIREZ, on behalf of himself ) 
and all others similarly situated, )

)
Plaintiff, ) Civil Action No. 12-

v- )
) CLASS ACTION 

TRANS UNION, LLC, )

Defendant. )

COMPLAINT - CLASS ACTION 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. This is a consumer class action based upon Defendant Trans Union, LLC’s 

widespread violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681 - 1681x (“FCRA”). 

Defendant is regulated as a consumer reporting agency (“CRA”) under the FCRA. Defendant is 

also similarly regulated as a consumer credit reporting agency (“CCRA”) under the California 

Consumer Credit Reporting Agencies Act (“CCRAA”), Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1785.1 - 1787.3. The 

rights of consumers to inspect and correct consumer information sold about them are at the heart 

of the FCRA and the CCRAA. Defendant deprives consumers of these rights by willfully failing 

to comply with the FCRA and the CCRAA and refusing to follow their requirements and provide 

consumers with all information it sells about them to third parties, specifically, information about 

whether a given consumer is reported as purportedly included in the Office of Foreign Assets 

Control, Specifically Designated National and Blocked Persons (“OFAC”) list. As a result, 

Defendant deprives consumers of rights afforded to them by the FCRA and the CCRAA to 

obtain a copy of and review the information that the Defendant sells about them, to dispute and 

to have corrected any inaccurate or incomplete information that the Defendant is reporting, and 
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to require that the Defendant maintain reasonable procedures to assure the maximum possible 

accuracy of that information before it sells it to any third party in a consumer report.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. Jurisdiction of this Court arises under 15 U.S.C. § 1681p and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

and supplemental jurisdiction exists for the state law claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

3. Venue lies properly in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

PARTIES

4. Plaintiff Sergio L. Ramirez is an adult individual who resides in Fremont, 

California.

5. Defendant Trans Union, LLC (“Trans Union”) is a consumer reporting agency 

that regularly conducts business in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania and which has a principal 

place of business located at 1510 Chester Pike, Crum Lynne, PA 19022.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

A. Defendant Fails To Provide Consumers With All Information In Their Trans 
Union Files, And Fails To Report Consumer Information Accurately

6. Defendant is one of the “big three” credit reporting agencies (singular “CRA”) in 

the U.S.

7. Defendant sells consumer reports (commonly called “credit reports”) about 

millions of consumers annually.

8. Defendant is regulated by the FCRA, and its state analogue the CCRAA.

9. The FCRA is intended “to protect consumers from the transmission of inaccurate 

information about them, and to establish credit reporting practices that utilize accurate, relevant, 

and current information in a confidential and responsible manner.” Cortez v. Trans Union, LLC, 

617 F.3d 688, 706 (3d Cir. 2010).
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10. In furtherance of that goal, the FCRA mandates that each CRA provide 

consumers with access to the information sold about them to third parties and also provide 

consumers with an opportunity to review and dispute any inaccuracies in their credit files. See 

15 U.S.C. §§ 168lg(a) and 1681i(a).

11. Specifically, each CRA is required by the FCRA to provide consumers with 

copies of their consumer files without charge every twelve months, after a credit denial and in 

other limited circumstances. See 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(a).

12. The term “file,” when used in connection with information on any consumer, 

means “a/Z of the information on that consumer recorded and retained by a consumer reporting 

agency regardless of how the information is stored.” See 15 U.S.C. § 168 la(g) (emphasis 

added).

13. “Congress clearly intended the protections of the FCRA to apply to all 

information furnished or that might be furnished in a consumer report” and an FCRA “ ‘file’ 

denotes all information on the consumer that is recorded and retained by a consumer reporting 

agency that might be furnished, or has been furnished, in a consumer report on that consumer.” 

Cortez, 617 F.3d at 711-12 (citing Gillespie v. Trans Union Corp., 482 F.3d 907, 909 (7th Cir. 

2007)).

14. After obtaining and reviewing a copy of their files, consumers have the right to 

dispute any inaccurate information in their credit files, and to have errors corrected by the CRA, 

usually within 30 days of their disputes. See 15 U.S.C. § 168 li(a).

15. In a seminal decision against this very Defendant, the Third Circuit held that 

“OFAC alerts” are part of a consumer’s Trans Union credit file and must be included in a file 
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disclosure provided to the consumer. “We hold that information relating to the OF AC alert is 

part of the consumer’s ‘file’ as defined in the FCRA.” Cortez, 617 F.3d at 712.

16. An OF AC alert is a specific type of data provided by consumer reporting agencies 

on credit reports signifying that the subject of the report is purportedly included in the list of the 

Office of Foreign Assets Control, Specifically Designated National and Blocked Persons, which 

includes terrorists, money launderers and narcotics traffickers.

17. In Cortez, this same Defendant had contended that it did not need to reinvestigate 

or correct erroneous OF AC alerts that it placed on consumer reports allegedly because the OF AC 

alerts were not part of the consumer’s file. Id. at 713. The Third Circuit rejected these 

arguments by Defendant. Id.

18. The Third Circuit in Cortez specifically found Trans Union liable for failing to 

disclose OF AC alerts in consumer files and for failing to reinvestigate and correct an OF AC alert 

erroneously attributed by Trans Union to the wrong consumer. Id. at 712-13.

19. Nonetheless, despite this clear Third Circuit precedent directed to the same 

Defendant, Trans Union continues to compile and sell reports about consumers that include 

OFAC alerts, without including the same OFAC alerts in the consumer file disclosures 

Defendant provides to those same consumers.

20. Defendant further misinforms consumers about their right to dispute such 

inaccurate OFAC alert information and have it corrected pursuant to the FCRA, and in fact fails 

to reinvestigate and correct such errors.

21. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant, as a matter of its normal course and 

practice, and despite the Third Circuit’s decision in Cortez, fails to include the OFAC alerts that 
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it reports about consumers to third parties in the consumer’s own files which consumers, as of 

right, may request and obtain from the Defendant.

22. Also as a matter of common practice, Defendant does not advise consumers that 

they may dispute inaccurate OF AC alerts, and thus does not reinvestigate such disputes or 

correct such errors.

23. Defendant also fails to maintain reasonable procedures to assure the maximum 

possible accuracy of the OF AC alert information it sells about consumers in the first place. See 

15U.S.C. § 1681e(b).

24. One of the most well known and prevalent inaccuracies that occurs in Trans 

Union’s consumer files is a “mixed file.”

25. A mixed file is a consumer report in which some or all of the information in the 

report pertains to a person other than the person who is the subject of the report.

26. Defendant has known since entering into a Consent Order agreeing to correct the 

mixed file problem on October 26, 1992, in The State of Alabama, et al. v. Trans Union Corp., 

92-C-7101 (N.D. Ill.), that it has a widespread problem of reporting one consumer’s information 

in the credit report of another.

27. In the above-referenced litigation brought by the Attorney Generals of seventeen 

states, Defendant agreed to take affirmative action to remedy the “mixed file” problem, 

specifically by using “full identifying information” to properly identify each individual 

consumer.

28. Indeed, the main cause of the mixed file problem is Defendant’s failure to use full 

identifying information to match credit records on its database to the information of consumers 

actually applying for credit, insurance or employment.
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29. In The State of Alabama, et al. v. Trans Union Corp., 92-C-7101 (N.D. Ill.), 

Defendant agreed to collect and use “full last name and first name; middle initial; full street 

address; zip code; year of birth; any generational designation; and social security number” in 

preparing any report about any given consumer. Id. at F(8) (emphasis added).

30. Despite those representations by Defendant, to date more than a hundred 

thousand possible mixed files are known to occur every year in Defendant’s credit reporting 

databases.

31. Despite those representations by Defendant, to date Defendant’s common practice 

is to use only partial matching, and not full identifying information, in preparing consumer credit 

reports.

32. Indeed, Defendant’s practice is to prepare and sell a consumer credit report using 

only the name and address of the consumer purportedly applying for credit.

33. Defendant’s practice is not to require a match to “full last name and first name; 

middle initial; full street address; zip code; year of birth; any generational designation; and social 

security number” before preparing a report that it will attribute to a particular consumer and sell 

about that same particular consumer.

34. OF AC alert information, as part of the consumer’s file and report, is also subject 

to the maximum possible accuracy standard, as the Third Circuit has specifically advised Trans 

Union: “OFAC information included in a consumer report and sold about a consumer falls 

within the purview of the FCRA, and the ‘maximum possible accuracy standard.’ Trans Union 

remains responsible for the accuracy in its reports under the FCRA and it cannot escape that 

responsibility as easily as it suggests here. Congress clearly intended to ensure that credit 

reporting agencies exercise care when deciding to associate information with a given consumer, 
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and the record clearly supports the jury's determination that Trans Union did not exercise 

sufficient care here.” Cortez, 617 F.3d at 710.

35. In Cortez, Defendant had mixed the plaintiff in the case with the OFAC records of 

a person with a similar, but not identical name, who was some twenty years younger than that 

plaintiff.

36. Despite the abundant notice it has regarding the unlawfulness of its practices, 

Defendant continues to use a “name only” match in determining whether a given consumer will 

be reported on his/her Trans Union consumer credit report as an alleged criminal on the OFAC 

list.

37. Moreover, not even the name only match needs to be an exact match between the 

actual name of the alleged criminal on the OFAC list and the actual name of the innocent 

consumer applying for credit.

38. Thus, Defendant will place an OFAC alert on a consumer’s report based solely on 

a partial name match.

39. Defendant continues to employ policies and procedures which frequently allow 

the information belonging to one consumer to appear in the credit file of another.

40. Defendant does so because Defendant always seeks to have some credit 

information available for sale to its customers (accurate or not), in order to maximize its profits. 

Defendant thus intentionally employs procedures that maximize the likelihood of match between 

any credit inquiry and some data in its database about one or more consumers. Defendant thus 

intentionally compromises accuracy in its efforts to increase sales.

41. Defendant’s reporting of OFAC alert information is not accidental, nor a result of 

simply negligence, but instead a result of deliberately designed policies and procedures.
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B. The Experience Of The Representative Plaintiff

42. Plaintiff is but one consumer about whom Defendant sold inaccurate OFAC 

information which it did not disclose on his file.

43. On or about February 27, 2011, Plaintiff applied for an automobile loan at Dublin 

Nissan.

44. On or about February 27, 2011, Dublin Nissan ordered a Trans Union consumer 

report for Plaintiff, after obtaining the Plaintiffs name, address, social security number and date 

of birth, which Plaintiff provided as part of his credit application, and which Dublin Nissan 

transmitted to Defendant in seeking a credit report about Plaintiff.

45. Defendant sold Dublin Nissan a Trans Union consumer report purportedly about 

Plaintiff on the same day for a fee.

46. Despite having been provided with Plaintiffs name, address, social security 

number and date of birth, Defendant used a partial “name only” match in determining whether 

Plaintiff was on the OFAC list.

47. Plaintiff was advised by representatives at Dublin Nissan after they reviewed his 

Trans Union consumer report that it refused to extend him credit since there was an “OFAC 

alert” on his credit report. Plaintiff understood this to mean that he had been identified as a 

terrorist.

48. Representatives from Dublin Nissan showed Plaintiff a copy of the Trans Union 

consumer report they reviewed in making their credit determination and it included the names of 

two unknown and unrelated individuals, “Sergio Humberto Ramirez Aguirre” (“Aguirre’) and 

“Sergio Alberto Cedula Ramirez Rivera” (“Rivera”), both of whom appear on the United States 

Department of the Treasury OFAC list of specially designated nationals and blocked persons.
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49. Contrary to the information contained in the Trans Union report prepared for and 

sold to Dublin Nissan, Plaintiff Ramirez is not an individual included on the OF AC list, and is 

not related to either Aguirre or Rivera.

50. Dublin Nissan refused to extend credit to Mr. Ramirez, since businesses in the 

United States are generally prohibited from dealing with anyone listed on OF AC’s specially 

designated national and blocked persons list. See e.g., 31 C.F.R. § 536.201.

51. Shocked and embarrassed, Mr. Ramirez promptly called Trans Union to dispute 

Trans Union’s erroneous reporting of his purported inclusion on the OFAC list.

52. Plaintiff was falsely informed by Trans Union representatives that there was no 

OFAC alert included in his consumer file, and that there was no way for him to make a dispute 

for information that did not appear in his file.

53. Mr. Ramirez called Trans Union specifically to dispute the OFAC alert included 

in the consumer report sold about him by Trans Union, but once Trans Union representatives told 

him he could not dispute OFAC alert, he asked that Trans Union send him a copy of his file so 

that he could verify that there was no OFAC alert being reported about him.

54. Trans Union’s representatives told Plaintiff that the OFAC alert would not be 

included in his credit file when sent to him.

55. Plaintiff thereafter received a Trans Union file disclosure, dated February 28, 

2011 and mailed to Plaintiff from Defendant’s consumer relations center in Chester, 

Pennsylvania.

56. The February 28, 2011 file disclosure included Plaintiffs personal identifying 

information, his account information, information about inquiries for his credit, including the 

credit inquiry by Dublin Nissan.
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57. Plaintiffs February 28, 2011 consumer file disclosure, however, did not include 

any OFAC alert or information whatsoever, and thus was not a complete and proper file 

disclosure as required by FCRA section 1681g(a).

58. Upon information and belief, neither Plaintiff nor any of the Class members as set 

forth below were provided upon request with consumer file disclosures which included the false 

OFAC alert that the Defendant was reporting about them to third parties.

59. As a result of Defendant’s failure to provide Plaintiff with all of the information it 

maintains and/or sells about him, specifically the OFAC alert information, Plaintiff was misled 

concerning the information that Defendant was reporting about him to third parties and deprived 

of the opportunity to dispute and correct the inaccurate OFAC alert that Defendant inaccurately 

associated with him on his report.

60. Several days later, under separate cover, Plaintiff received a letter from 

Defendant’s Woodlyn, Pennsylvania facility dated March 1, 2011, “Regarding: OFAC (Office of 

Foreign Assets Control) Database” (the “March 1, 2011 correspondence”).

61. Upon information and belief, Defendant sends this form correspondence only to 

those consumers, like Plaintiff, who have contacted Defendant about its erroneous reporting of 

an OFAC alert on their reports, but not to all persons about whom Defendant has sold any report 

that included an OFAC alert.

62. The March 1, 2011 correspondence sent to Plaintiff Sergio L. Ramirez, born in 

1976, stated: “[t]he OFAC record that is considered a potential match to the name on your credit 

file is. . . Ramirez Aguirre, Sergio Humberto, Tijuana Mexico, date of birth, XX/XX/1951; and 

Ramirez Rivera, Sergio Alberto Cedula, Cali Columbia, date of birth, XX/XX/1964.”

10
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63. The March 1, 2011 correspondence does not constitute a proper consumer file 

disclosure as defined in the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681a(g) and 1681g.

64. The March 1, 2011 correspondence is a standardized form letter, which is 

customized with the subject consumer’s name and address and which includes the purportedly 

matching OF AC alert information, but no other public records or credit information relating to 

that consumer.

65. The March 1, 2011 correspondence contained no summary of rights prepared by 

the Commission, as required by FCRA § 1681g(c)(2)(A) and CCRAA § 1785.15(f).

66. The March 1, 2011 correspondence contained no toll-free telephone number 

established by the CRA, at which personnel are accessible to consumers during normal business 

hours, as required by FCRA § 168lg(c)(2)(B) and CCRAA § 1785.15(f).

67. The March 1, 2011 correspondence contained no list of all Federal agencies 

responsible for enforcing any provision of the FCRA, nor the address and any appropriate phone 

number of each such agency, as required by FCRA § 1681 g(c)(2)(C) and CCRAA § 1785.15(f).

68. The March 1, 2011 correspondence contained no statement that the consumer may 

have additional rights under state law, and that the consumer may wish to contact a state or local 

consumer protection agency or a state attorney general (or the equivalent thereof) to learn of 

those rights, as required by FCRA § 1681 g(c)(2)(D) and CCRAA § 1785.15(f).

69. The March 1, 2011 correspondence contained no statement concerning the right 

of a consumer to dispute information in the file of the consumer under section 1681 i of this title, 

as required by 15 U.S.C. § 1681 g(c)( 1 )(B)(iii) and CCRAA § 1785.15(f).
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70. The March 1, 2011 correspondence provides no instructions or methods by which 

Plaintiff may dispute or request that Trans Union stop selling reports about him with any OFAC 

alert or information on them.

71. As of result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff has suffered damages in the form of 

(a) lost credit opportunity, (b) harm to reputation, and (c) emotional distress.

72. At all times pertinent hereto, Defendant was acting by and through its agents, 

servants and/or employees who were acting within the course and scope of their agency or 

employment, and under the direct supervision and control of the Defendant herein.

73. At all times pertinent hereto, the conduct of the Defendant, as well as that of its 

agents, servants and/or employees, was malicious, intentional, willful, reckless, and in grossly 

negligent disregard for federal laws and the rights of the Plaintiff herein.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

74. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of the following Classes:

(a) For Defendant’s violations of FCRA § 1681g(a): All persons residing in 
the United States and its Territories who during the period beginning two 
(2) years prior to the filing of this Complaint and continuing through the 
date of the resolution of this case had a consumer report sold about them 
by Trans Union, which included any OFAC record, and to whom Trans 
Union subsequently sent a file disclosure substantially similar in form to 
the February 28, 2011 file disclosure from Defendant to Plaintiff, 
excluding Sergio Humberto Ramirez Aguirre and Sergio Alberto Cedula 
Ramirez Rivera.

(b) For Defendant’s violations of CCRAA § 1785.10: All persons residing 
in the State of California who during the period beginning two (2) years 
prior to the filing of this Complaint and continuing through the date of the 
resolution of this case had a consumer report sold about them by Trans 
Union, which included any OFAC record, and to whom Trans Union 
subsequently sent a file disclosure substantially similar in form to the 
February 28, 2011 file disclosure from Defendant to Plaintiff, excluding 
Sergio Humberto Ramirez Aguirre and Sergio Alberto Cedula Ramirez 
Rivera.
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75. Plaintiff also brings this action on behalf of the following Classes:

(a) For Defendant’s violations of FCRA §§ 1681g(a) & (c): All persons 
residing in the United States and its Territories to whom, during the period 
beginning two (2) years prior to the filing of this Complaint and 
continuing through the date of the resolution of this case, Trans Union sent 
a letter substantially similar in form to the March 1, 2011 correspondence 
from Defendant to Plaintiff.

(b) For Defendant’s violations of CCRAA §§ 1785.10 & 1785.15(f): All 
persons residing in the State of California to whom, during the period 
beginning two (2) years prior to the filing of this Complaint and 
continuing through the date of the resolution of this case, Trans Union sent 
a letter substantially similar in form to the March 1, 2011 correspondence 
from Defendant to Plaintiff.

76. Plaintiff also brings this action on behalf of the following Classes:

(a) For Defendant’s violations of FCRA § 1681e(b): All persons residing in 
the United States and its Territories with the first name “Sergio” and the 
last name “Ramirez” who, during the period beginning two (2) years prior 
to the filing of this Complaint and continuing through the date of the 
resolution of this case, had a consumer report sold about them by Trans 
Union which included an OFAC record, excluding Sergio Humberto 
Ramirez Aguirre and Sergio Alberto Cedula Ramirez Rivera.

(b) For Defendant’s violations of CCRAA § 1785.14(b): All persons 
residing in the State of California with the first name “Sergio” and the last 
name “Ramirez” who, during the period beginning two (2) years prior to 
the filing of this Complaint and continuing through the date of the 
resolution of this case, had a consumer report sold about them by Trans 
Union which included an OFAC record, excluding Sergio Humberto 
Ramirez Aguirre and Sergio Alberto Cedula Ramirez Rivera.

77. The Classes are so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable. 

Although the precise number of Class members is known only to Defendant, Plaintiff avers upon 

information and belief that the Classes number in the thousands.

78. There are questions of law and fact common to the Classes that predominate over 

any questions affecting only individual Class members. The principal questions concern whether 

the Defendant willfully and/or negligently violated the FCRA and/or the CCRAA by failing to 
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provide consumers with access to all information contained in their consumer files, as well as 

whether the Defendant follows reasonable procedures to assure the maximum possible accuracy 

of the information contained in consumers’ files with respect to OF AC information.

79. Plaintiffs claims are typical of the claims of the Classes, which all arise from the 

same operative facts and are based on the same legal theories.

80. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Classes. Plaintiff is 

committed to vigorously litigating this matter. Further, Plaintiff has secured counsel experienced 

in handling consumer class actions. Neither Plaintiff nor his counsel has any interests which 

might cause them not to vigorously pursue this claim.

81. This action should be maintained as a class action because the prosecution of 

separate actions by individual members of the Classes would create a risk of inconsistent or 

varying adjudications with respect to individual members which would establish incompatible 

standards of conduct for the parties opposing the Classes, as well as a risk of adjudications with 

respect to individual members which would as a practical matter be dispositive of the interests of 

other members not parties to the adjudications or substantially impair or impede their ability to 

protect their interests.

82. Defendant has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the 

Classes, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief 

with respect to the CCRAA Classes each as a whole.

83. Whether Defendant violated the FCRA and/or the CCRAA can be easily 

determined by Defendant’s policies and a ministerial inspection of Defendant’s business records.

84. A class action is a superior method for the fair and efficient adjudication of this

controversy. Management of the Classes’ claims is likely to present significantly fewer 

14
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difficulties than those presented in many individual claims. The identities of the Class members 

may be derived from Defendant’s records.

CLAIMS

COUNT I - VIOLATION OF THE FCRA § 1681g(a)

85. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though the same were set forth 

at length herein.

86. Pursuant to section 168In of the FCRA, Defendant is liable for willfully failing to 

provide consumers such as Plaintiff, upon request, with all information in the consumer’s file in 

violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681g(a).

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays that an order be entered certifying the 

proposed Class under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and appointing Plaintiff 

and his counsel to represent the Class; that judgment be entered for Plaintiff and the Class 

against Defendant for statutory and punitive damages for violation of 15 U.S.C. §1681g, 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 168In; that the Court award costs and reasonable attorney’s fees, 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n; and that the Court grant such other and further relief as may be 

just and proper.

COUNT II - VIOLATION OF THE CCRAA § 1785.10

87. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though the same were set forth 

at length herein.

88. Defendant is a “consumer credit reporting agency” as defined by Cal. Civ. Code 

§ 1785.3(d).

89. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as that term is defined by Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.3(b).
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90. The above-mentioned credit reports were “consumer credit reports” as that term 

is defined by Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.3(c).

91. Pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.31, Defendant is liable for violating the 

CCRAA by failing to provide consumers, upon request, with a copy of their disclosure 

containing all information on that consumer in violation of Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.10 with 

respect to Plaintiff and the Class.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays that an order be entered certifying the 

proposed Class under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and appointing Plaintiff 

and his counsel to represent the Class; that judgment be entered for Plaintiff and the Class 

against Defendant for damages of $100 to $5,000 per Class member per violation under the 

CCRAA; that the Court award injunctive relief under the CCRAA; that the Court award costs 

and reasonable attorney’s fees under the CCRAA; and such other and further relief as may be 

necessary, just and proper.

COUNT III - VIOLATIONS OF THE FCRA § 1681g(c)

92. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though the same were set forth 

at length herein.

93. Pursuant to section 168In of the FCRA, Defendant is liable for willfully failing 

to provide consumers such as Plaintiff with a summary of their rights, which are required to be 

included with consumer disclosures, including the right to dispute information contained 

therein, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681 g(c).

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays that an order be entered certifying the 

proposed Class under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and appointing Plaintiff 

and his counsel to represent the Class; that judgment be entered for Plaintiff and the Class 
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against Defendant for statutory and punitive damages for violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681g, 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 168In; that the Court award costs and reasonable attorney’s fees, 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n; and that the Court grant such other and further relief as may be 

just and proper.

COUNT IV - VIOLATION OF THE CCRAA § 1785.15(f)

94. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though the same were set forth 

at length herein.

95. Defendant is a “consumer credit reporting agency” as defined by Cal. Civ. Code 

§ 1785.3(d).

96. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as that term is defined by Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.3(b).

97. The above-mentioned credit reports were “consumer credit reports” as that term 

is defined by Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.3(c).

98. Pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.31, Defendant is liable for violating the 

CCRAA by willfully failing to provide consumers such as Plaintiff with a summary of their 

rights, which are required to be included with consumer disclosures, including the right to 

dispute information contained therein, in violation of CCRAA § 1785.10, with respect to 

Plaintiff and the Class.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays that an order be entered certifying the 

proposed Class under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and appointing Plaintiff 

and his counsel to represent the Class; that judgment be entered for Plaintiff and the Class 

against Defendant for damages of $100 to $5,000 per Class member per violation under the 

CCRAA; that the Court award injunctive relief under the CCRAA; that the Court award costs 

and reasonable attorney’s fees under the CCRAA; and such other and further relief as may be
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necessary, just and proper.

COUNT V - VIOLATION OF THE FCRA § 1681e(b)

99. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though the same were set forth 

at length herein.

100. Pursuant to sections 1681n and 1681o of the FCRA, Defendant is liable for 

negligently and willfully failing to maintain reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible 

accuracy of the consumer reports it sold in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 168 le(b).

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays that an order be entered certifying the 

proposed Class under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and appointing Plaintiff 

and his counsel to represent the Class; that judgment be entered for Plaintiff and the Class 

against Defendant for statutory, actual and punitive damages for violation of 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681 e(b), pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681n and 1681 o; that the Court award costs and reasonable 

attorney’s fees, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 168In and 1681 o; and that the Court grant such other 

and further relief as may be just and proper.

COUNT VI - VIOLATION OF THE CCRAA § 1785.14(b)

101. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs as though the same were set forth 

at length herein.

102. Defendant is a “consumer credit reporting agency” as defined by Cal. Civ. Code 

§ 1785.3(d).

103. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as that term is defined by Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.3(b).

104. The above-mentioned credit reports were “consumer credit reports” as that term 

is defined by Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.3(c).
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105. Pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.14(b), Defendant is liable for violating the 

CCRAA by failing to follow reasonable procedures to assure “maximum possible accuracy” of 

the reports it sold, in violation of Cal. Civ. Code § 1785.14(b) with respect to Plaintiff and the 

Class.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays that an order be entered certifying the 

proposed Class under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and appointing Plaintiff 

and his counsel to represent the Class; that judgment be entered for Plaintiff and the Class 

against Defendant for damages of $100 to $5,000 per Class member per violation under the 

CCRAA; that judgment be entered for Plaintiff and the Class against Defendant for actual 

damages under the CCRAA; that judgment be entered for Plaintiff and the Class against 

Defendant for actual damages under the CCRAA; that the Court award injunctive relief under the 

CCRAA; that the Court award costs and reasonable attorney’s fees under the CCRAA; and such 

other and further relief as may be necessary, just and proper.

JURY TRIAL DEMAND

106. Plaintiff demands trial by jury on all issues.

Respectfully submitted,

FRANCIS & MAILMAN, P.C.

Dated: January 23, 2012

BY: James A. Francis
JAMES A. FRANCIS 
JOHN SOUMILAS 
DAVID A. SEARLES 
ERIN A. NOVAK
Land Title Building, 19th Floor 
100 South Broad Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19110 
(215)735-8600

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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